
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN 

MILWAUKEE DIVISION 
 

TOM SUXSTORF, Individually and on Behalf of 
All Others Similarly Situated, 
 
  Plaintiff, 
 vs. 
 
CLIENT SERVICES, INC., 
 
  Defendant. 

)
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
)

Case No.: 17-cv-43
 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT  
 
 
 
Jury Trial Demanded 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

1. This class action seeks redress for collection practices that violate the Fair Debt 

Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq. (the “FDCPA”). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. The court has jurisdiction to grant the relief sought by the Plaintiff pursuant to 15 

U.S.C. § 1692k and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1337. Venue in this District is proper in that 

Defendant directed its collection efforts into the District. 

PARTIES 

3. Plaintiff Tom Suxstorf is an individual who resides in the Eastern District of 

Wisconsin (Milwaukee County). 

4. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined in the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3), in that 

Defendant sought to collect from him a debt allegedly incurred for personal, family or household 

purposes. 

5. Defendant Client Services, Inc. (“Client Services”) is a debt collection agency 

with its principal offices located at 3451 Harry S Truman Blvd., St. Charles , MO 63301. 
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6. Client Services is engaged in the business of a collection agency, using the mails 

and telephone to collect consumer debts originally owed to others. 

7. Client Services is engaged in the business of collecting debts owed to others and 

incurred for personal, family or household purposes. Client Services is a debt collector as defined 

in 15 U.S.C. § 1692a. 

FACTS 
 

8. On or about October 24, 2016, Client Services mailed a debt collection letter to 

Plaintiff regarding an alleged debt owed to “Synchrony Bank Sam's Club® Personal Credit” 

(“Synchrony”). A copy of this letter is attached to this Complaint as Exhibit A. 

9. Upon information and belief, the alleged debt referenced in Exhibit A is an 

alleged credit card account, used only for personal, family or household purposes. 

10. Upon information and belief, Exhibit A is a form letter, generated by computer, 

and with the information specific to Plaintiff inserted by computer. 

11. Upon information and belief, Exhibit A is a form debt collection letter used by 

Client Services to attempt to collect alleged debts. 

12. Exhibit A contains the following statement: 

 

13. Exhibit A also contains a settlement offer that references the balance due in a 

confusing way to the unsophisticated consumer. 

14. Exhibit A contains the following settlement offer: 
 

 

15. Exhibit A also states:  
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16. The representation in Exhibit A that the payment option will "resolve" the account 

is false, misleading and confusing to the unsophisticated consumer. 

17. The alleged debt is a credit card account. Upon information and belief, the debt 

will accrue interest, likely at a default or penalty rate between 20 and 30 percent or possibly 

more, between the date listed on Exhibit A and the date Plaintiff would make a payment on the 

alleged debt. 

18. Synchrony may also assess late fees on the account. 

19. It is unclear if the "Balance Due" listed on Exhibit A is the number that will be 

broken into "3 monthly payments, 6 monthly payments, or 12 monthly payments" to "resolve" 

the account, or whether the "Balance Due" will change over the course of 3, 6, or 12 months due 

to the accrual of interest and late fees, consequently making the settlement payments increase 

over the course of time.  

20. The unsophisticated consumer understands that interest and fees are routinely 

added to delinquent (allegedly) credit card accounts, and would be confused as to whether the 

payment option is meant to incorporate interest and fees into it, or not.  

21. Exhibit A fails to state the terms of the payment option in a non-confusing 

manner.  

22. The unsophisticated consumer could not determine from Exhibit A, if the 

settlement offer is for an amount set as of the date of Exhibit A, or a increasing amount over the 

course of the 3, 6, or 12 month payment schedule. 

23. The normal meaning of “settling” a debt means that the debt is permanently 

resolved in exchange for a payment of a portion of the balance. 
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24. The unsophisticated consumer could send checks equally breaking up the balance 

listed on Exhibit A into 3, 6, or 12 portions and would not know whether he had sent enough 

money to actually settle the account, due to the possibility that Client Services, on a whim, added 

interest or other charges to the settlement amount. 

25. The consequences of misleading a consumer with respect to settling a debt are 

much greater than misleading about the amount of the debt. A payment of the entire debt would 

leave pennies or, at most, a few dollars left over for payment later. See eg. Miller v. McCalla, 

Raymer, Padrick, Cobb, Nichols, & Clark, L.L.C., 214 F.3d 872, 876 (7th Cir. 2000). But the 

payment specified in Exhibit A may be insufficient to settle the whole debt, plus undisclosed 

interest and fees. Due to the continuing accrual of interest on the alleged credit card debt, it is 

possible that Client Services and Synchrony could continue to collect the entire remaining 

balance of the alleged debt and additional accrued interest, as a settlement agreement has not 

actually been consummated.  

26. Plaintiff was confused by Exhibit A. 

27. Plaintiff had to spend time and money investigating Exhibit A, and the 

consequences of any potential responses to Exhibit A. 

28. Plaintiff had to take time to obtain and meet with counsel, including traveling to 

counsel’s office by car and its related expenses, including but not limited to the cost of gasoline 

and mileage, to advise Plaintiff on the consequences of Exhibit A. 

29. The FDCPA creates substantive rights for consumers; violations cause injury to 

consumers, and such injuries are concrete and particularized. Quinn v. Specialized Loan 

Servicing, LLC, No. 16 C 2021, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 107299 *8-13 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 11, 2016) 

(rejecting challenge to Plaintiff’s standing based upon alleged FDCPA statutory violation); Lane 
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v. Bayview Loan Servicing, LLC, No. 15 C 10446, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 89258 *9-10 (N.D. Ill. 

July 11, 2016) (“When a federal statute is violated, and especially when Congress has created a 

cause of action for its violation, by definition Congress has created a legally protected interest 

that it deems important enough for a lawsuit.”); Church v. Accretive Health, Inc., No. 15-15708, 

2016 U.S. App. LEXIS 12414 *7-11 (11th Cir. July 6, 2016) (same); see also Mogg v. Jacobs, 

No. 15-CV-1142-JPG-DGW, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 33229, 2016 WL 1029396, at *5 (S.D. Ill. 

Mar. 15, 2016) (“Congress does have the power to enact statutes creating legal rights, the 

invasion of which creates standing, even though no injury would exist without the statute,” 

(quoting Sterk v. Redbox Automated Retail, LLC, 770 F.3d 618, 623 (7th Cir. 2014)). For this 

reason, and to encourage consumers to bring FDCPA actions, Congress authorized an award of 

statutory damages for violations. 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a). 

30. Moreover, Congress has explicitly described the FDCPA as regulating “abusive 

practices” in debt collection. 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692(a) – 1692(e). Any person who receives a debt 

collection letter containing a violation of the FDCPA is a victim of abusive practices. See 15 

U.S.C. §§ 1692(e) (“It is the purpose of this subchapter to eliminate abusive debt collection 

practices by debt collectors, to insure that those debt collectors who refrain from using abusive 

debt collection practices are not competitively disadvantaged, and to promote consistent State 

action to protect consumers against debt collection abuses”). 

31. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e generally prohibits “any false, deceptive, or misleading 

representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt.” 

32. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(a) specifically prohibits “The false representation of— the 

character, amount, or legal status of any debt. 
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33. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10) specifically prohibits the “use of any false representation 

or deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect any debt.” 

34. 15 U.S.C. § 1692f generally prohibits “unfair or unconscionable means to collect 

or attempt to collect any debt.” 

COUNT I  – FDCPA 

35. Plaintiff incorporates by reference as if fully set forth herein the allegations 

contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

36. Plaintiff incorporates by reference as if fully set forth herein the allegations 

contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

37. The payment option in Exhibit A is confusing. Either the settlement offer is for a 

set, pre-determined amount which breaks up the listed "balance due" into set, equal portions or it 

is subject to other charges, including contractual interest. 

38. Defendant violated 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692e(2)(a), 1692e(10) and 1692f. 

CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

39. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of a Class consisting of (a) all natural persons 

in the State of Wisconsin, (b) who were sent collection letters in the form represented by Exhibit 

A to the complaint in this action, (c) seeking to collect a debt, incurred for personal, family or 

household purposes (d) between January 10, 2016 and January 10, 2017, inclusive, (f) that was 

not returned by the postal service. 

40. The Class is so numerous that joinder is impracticable.  Upon information and 

belief, there are more than 50 members of the Class. 

41. There are questions of law and fact common to the members of the class, which 

common questions predominate over any questions that affect only individual class members.  

The predominant common question is whether Exhibit A violates the FDCPA. 
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42. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Class members.  All are based on 

the same factual and legal theories. 

43. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent the interests of the Class members. 

Plaintiff has retained counsel experienced in consumer credit and debt collection abuse cases. 

44. A class action is superior to other alternative methods of adjudicating this dispute.   

Individual cases are not economically feasible. 

JURY DEMAND 

45. Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that the Court enter judgment in favor of Plaintiff and 

the Class and against Defendant for: 

(a) actual damages; 

(b) statutory damages;   

(c) attorneys’ fees, litigation expenses and costs of suit; and 

(d) such other or further relief as the Court deems proper. 

Dated:  January 10, 2017 
  ADEMI & O’REILLY, LLP 
 
  By: /s/ John D. Blythin   
  Shpetim Ademi (SBN 1026973) 
  John D. Blythin (SBN 1046105) 
  Mark A. Eldridge (SBN 1089944) 
  Denise L. Morris (SBN 1097911) 
  3620 East Layton Avenue 
  Cudahy, WI 53110 
  (414) 482-8000 
  (414) 482-8001 (fax) 
  sademi@ademilaw.com 
  jblythin@ademilaw.com 
  meldridge@ademilaw.com 
  dmorris@ademilaw.com 
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Office Hours (Central Time)

\cw Monday:Thursday: 8am-8pmIII
.IMX)PPORATOD Friday: 7am-5pm

3451 Harry S Truman Blvd. Saturday: 7am-11am

Saint Charles, MO 63301-4047 Sunday: Closed

CREDITOR: Synchrony Bank Sam's ClubePersonalCredit
PHONE: 877-552-5924ACCOUNT NUMBER: XXXXXXXXXXXX9237

BALANCE DUE: $2,402.11.
REFERENCE NUMBER:1334 DATE: 10/24/2016

:.....PAymersyr,OPTIoN :NOTICE

Dear Valued Customer:

In an effort to resolve the above-referenced account, we are authorized to discuss payment options. We have many
payment options that may meet your individual needs, including breaking the balance into 3 monthly payments, 6 monthly
payments, or 12 monthly payments.

I want to work with you to find a payment solution that fits your needs. Please call me at 877-552-5924.

I look forward to working with you to resolve this balance.

Josh Pinkowski
Client Services, Inc.

THIS COMMUNICATION IS FROM A DEBT COLLECTOR. THIS IS AN ATTEMPT TO COLLECT A DEBT.
ANY INFORMATION OBTAINED WILL BE USED FOR THAT PURPOSE.

FOR IMPORTANT RIGHTS AND PRIVILEGES WHICH MIGHT APPLY TO YOUR STATE OF RESIDENCE,
PLEASE SEE BELOW OR REVERSE SIDE (IF FAXED THEN FOLLOWING PAGE).

Send your payment in the enclosed envelope using the :4.
Ibial remittance coupon below.

Online. www.csiconsurn-e-r-L-er7"

Ir.:,.
If you are unable to pay the balance in full, contact our

'N, iPay-by-Phone. 1-877-552-5905, off ce at 877-552-5924 for payment options, which may.
be available to you. .1

REFERENCE NUMBER I 334

PO Box 1586 AMOUNT ENCLOSED 1111111111111111111111
Saint Peters, MO 63376

'.--44.V...

Checks Payable To: Client Services, Inc.

CLIENT SERVICES, INC.
TOMAS SUXSTORF 3451 HARRY S. TRUMAN BLVD1'

741 EDGEWOOD AVE ST. CHARLES MO 63301-4047
SOUTH INIILWAUKEE WI 53172-3847 1111111111111111111111111111IIPHIldhl°14111111111111111114
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CALIFORNIA
The state Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and the federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act require that, except
under unusual circumstances, collectors may not contact you before 8:00 a.m. or after 9:00 p.m. They may not harass you
by using threats of violence or arrest or by using obscene language. Collectors may not use false or misleading statements
or call you at work if they know or have reason to know that you may not receive personal calls at work. For the most part,
collectors may not tell another person, other than your attorney or spouse, about your debt. Collectors may contact another
person to confirm your location or enforce a judgment. For more information about debt collection activities, you may
contact the Federal Trade Commission at 1-877-FTC-HELP or www.ftc.gov. Non profit credit counseling services may be
available in the area.

COLORADO
FOR INFORMATION ABOUT THE COLORADO FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT, SEE
WWW.COAG.GOV/CAR. A consumer has the right to request in writing that a debt collector or collection agency cease
further communication with the consumer. A written request to cease communication will not prohibit the debt collector or

collection agency from taking any other action authorized by law to collect the debt. The address and telephone number for
Client Services, Inc.'s local Colorado office is: The Executive Building, Attn: Stokes & Wolf, P.C. as agent for Client
Services, Inc., 1776 S. Jackson St., Suite 900 Denver, CO 80210 (TEL: (303) 753-0945).

KANSAS
An investigative consumer report, which includes information as to your character, general reputation, personal
characteristics and mode of living, has been requested. You have the right to request additional information, which includes
the nature and scope of the investigation.

MASSACHUSETTS
NOTICE OF IMPORTANT RIGHTS: You have the right to make a written or oral request that telephone calls regarding your
debt not be made to you at your place of employment. Any such oral request will be valid for only ten days unless you
provide written confirmation of the request postmarked or delivered within seven days of such request. You may terminate
this request by writing to the debt collector.

MINNESOTA
This collection agency is licensed by the Minnesota Department of Commerce.

NEW YORK
In accordance with the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. 1692 et seq., debt collectors are prohibited from
engaging in abusive, deceptive, and unfair debt collection efforts, including but not limited to: the use or threat of violence,
the use of obscene or profane language, and repeated phone calls made with the intent to annoy, abuse, or harass. If a

creditor or debt collector receives a money judgment against you in court, state and federal laws may prevent the following
types of income from being taken to pay the debt: supplemental security income (SSI), social security, public assistance
(welfare), spousal support including maintenance (alimony) or child support, unemployment benefits, disability benefits,
workerscompensation benefits, public or private pensions, veterans' benefits, federal student loans, federal student grants,
federal work study funds, and ninety percent of your wages or salary earned in the last sixty days.

NEW YORK CITY
New York City Department of Consumer Affairs License Number: 1306512

NORTH CAROLINA
North Carolina Permit Number: 100705

TENNESSEE
This collection agency is licensed by the Collection Service Board of the Department of Commerce and Insurance.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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CLIENT SERVICES, INC.

CLIENT SERVICES, INC. 
c/o  CORPORATION SERVICE COMPANY 
8040 EXCELSIOR DRIVE 
SUITE 400 
MADISON, WI 53717 

John D. Blythin 
Ademi & O'Reilly, LLP 
3620 East Layton Avenue 
Cudahy, WI 53110 
(414) 482-8000-Telephone
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Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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